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P.O. Box 115512
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	CHARLES E. MARTIN, 
                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

NABORS ALASKA DRILLING, INC.;

NABORS WELL SERVICING, INC.;

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

NABORS INDUSTRIES, INC,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case Nos.  199928740, 

199928711, 199908379, 199714944, 

199506229 

AWCB Decision No.  09-0171
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on November  18, 2009


On June 24, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s petition to adjust his compensation rate and if stipend benefits were properly paid.  The employee appeared and represented himself.  Attorney Richard Wagg represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record was held open for completion and consideration of an independent audit of benefits the employer paid to the employee.  Upon receipt of the audit, when the Board met to conduct further deliberations, Board member Dave Robinson was out of the country.  His date of return was undetermined.  The remaining Board member, Robert Weel, and the designated chair reached an impasse.  Based upon the extensive evidence presented, including the employee’s testimony at hearing upon which credibility findings are required, we determined Board member Robinson’s participation in the final deliberations was crucial.  Contact with Board member Robinson proved extremely difficult.  The parties were notified of the impasse and given an opportunity to reconvene the hearing for purposes of presenting arguments to a new panel member or awaiting the new panel member’s review of the record.  The parties chose for the new panel member to review the record.  We conducted final deliberations on October 5, 2009, at which time the record closed.  


ISSUES

1. For purposes of calculating the employee’s compensation rate under AS 23.30.220 and his permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits under AS 23.30.190, what are the dates of injury for the employee’s back injury, carpal tunnel/radial tunnel syndrome (“CTS/RTS”), and hearing loss?

2. On what date did the employee become permanently and totally disabled for purposes of 
AS 23.30.180? 

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

The Board reviewed the voluminous records in this case, but summarizes those necessary to determine the limited issues before the Board.  This case has been before the Board on several occasions and prior evidence summaries are incorporated by reference.
  

I. HISTORY OF EMPLOYEE’S WORK FOR EMPLOYER

The employee, born in 1957,
 has a 7th grade education and started working in the oil fields when he was 21 years old.  He began work with the employer in 1981 and continued working for the employer until 2002, holding the positions of floor hand, derricks, motors, pit watcher, driller, tour pusher and tool pusher.
 

In his September 5, 2002 deposition, the employee testified regarding his work with the employer.  Between 1981 and 1991, the employee worked steadily for the employer, averaging 176 hours every two weeks and had every third week off.  The employee started as a floor hand; his duties included equipment maintenance, adding pipe joints when drilling, operating tongs, pulling slips and trips, racking pipe back in the derrick, mopping floors, scrubbing, painting and a variety of other tasks related to the oil field.  After working floors, the employee worked derricks, where he was responsible for the drilling fluids.  In that position, he relieved the drillers when they took their lunch breaks.  The next position the employee held was “motors;” he was responsible for maintaining all the employer’s drilling rig equipment and relieving the drillers.  The employee also worked as a driller responsible for a 10-man crew and all drilling operations on the rig, including pulling levers, moving dials, pulling pipe out of the hole as deep as 20,000 feet for up to 12 hours per day, operating the blowout equipment for prevention of blowout conditions and teaching employees their jobs.
  The employee testified at hearing he taught his employees by working with them and physically showing them what to do.

In 1991, when the employee was denied a leave of absence, he resigned his position with the employer.  The employer contacted the employee in January 1995 to return to work as a driller; he worked continuously for the employer from that time until his May 10, 1999 injury.  After his injury, he went back to work for the employer for approximately three months in 2000 doing paperwork to help the tool pushers.  Essentially, he completed morning reports, monthly reports, and attended safety meetings.  His involvement with the employer’s safety regime, the Stop Program, entailed collecting stop cards from the employees and raising the crews’ awareness of job hazards and machinery removed from operation because it was unsafe.  The employee did not generate the reports on a computer.
  

At the superintendent’s request, the employee returned to work after being home for his days off, to move a drill from Prudhoe Bay to Milne Point.  In conducting the rig moving operation, the employee supervised the equipment used in the move.  While sitting in a pickup, supervising the equipment, pain returned to the employee’s back and legs.  The employee returned home on November 27, 2000, and did not return to work.
  

II. MEDICAL HISTORY

The employee injured his back moving a pair of air slips, while working for the employer as a driller on the North Slope on May 10, 1999.  Orthopedic surgeon Thomas Vasileff, M.D., ordered a magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") study, and diagnosed a herniated disc at L4-5.
  He restricted the employee from his work, and recommended surgery.
  Dr. Vasileff performed a left-sided L4-5 diskectomy on July 1, 1999.
  The employee's radiating pain persisted, and Dr. Vasileff referred the employee to Harold Cable, M.D., who performed a discogram on January 19, 2000, which revealed structural problems in the L4-5 nucleus and a defect in the annulus.
  Dr. Vasileff referred the employee to Davis Peterson, M.D., who recommended an interbody fusion,
 and recommended the employee lose 40 to 50 pounds for the fusion to be effective.
  Also on referral from Dr. Vasileff, Larry Levine, M.D., performed an electromyelogram (“EMG”) on the employee, and found abnormal nerve conduction.
  The employee's symptoms improved somewhat, and Dr. Vasileff released the employee to light work, effective July 17, 2000.
  

At a follow-up visit on August 8, 2000, Dr. Vasileff noted the employee had been back at work since July 19, 2000, on light duty.
  On July 27, 2000, the employee received a lumbar steroidal injection at L4-5.
  On November 9, 2000, Dr. Vasileff found the employee to be medically stable and recommended a permanent impairment rating be done at that time.
  The employee saw 
Dr. Vasileff on November 21, 2000, complaining of continuing back and left leg pain; Dr. Vasileff recommended another epidural steroid injection series.
  The first of these injections was scheduled on November 21, 2000, for November 30, 2000.
  

After being sent home from the North Slope two days prior because of continuing pain in his back and legs, the employee saw Dr. Vasileff on November 29, 2000.  An MRI performed on November 29, 2000 showed a recurrent herniation at L4-L5 and facet arthropathy at L5-S1.
  Dr. Vasileff noted the employee was in pain when he returned to work on the North Slope after his surgery.  The employee was again taken off work.
  

On December 5, 2000, Dr. Vasileff noted the employee had discussed an anterior spine fusion with Davis Peterson, M.D., but because of the employee’s weight, Dr. Vasileff ordered a larger back support.  Dr. Vasileff sought another opinion from Dr. Peterson,
 who saw the employee on December 21, 2000.  The employee reported the epidural steroid injections improved his symptoms, but since the last one on July 27, 2000, he had progressive recurrence of his symptoms.  
Dr. Peterson indicated the employee may be a candidate for repeat fusion surgery,
 and referred him to Jens Chapman, M.D., at the University of Washington for a second opinion.  On May 2, 2001, Dr. Chapman reviewed the employee’s information, and recommended the employee lose weight, stop smoking, and be weaned from narcotic pain medication before seeking an office consultation.
  At that time, in Dr. Chapman’s opinion, the employee was not a candidate for fusion.
  

On June 1, 2001, the employee completed a questionnaire for Rehabilitation Medicine Associates, after referral from Dr. Vasileff.  The employee stated he was “disabled” and described his trial return to work from “July 2000 to November 2000” as full time and noted the “epidurals wore off.”
  On June 12, 2001, Robert Fu, M.D., evaluated the employee for a permanent partial impairment rating.
  As part of the employee’s medical history, Dr. Fu noted approximately 20 years before the evaluation, the employee was diagnosed with bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome and tendinitis, which had not been filed as a workers’ compensation claim.  The employee continued to have symptoms, but surgical or other intervention had not been provided.
  With regard to the employee’s back, Dr. Fu reported a series of blocks done in July of 2000 helped the employee to the extent he could go back to work, but his condition had worsened again.
  Dr. Fu assessed the employee with a 13 percent whole person impairment rating based on the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition, for his back injury, while also noting the employee’s carpal tunnel syndrome and tendinitis were preexisting and not related to the back injury.
  Finally, Dr. Fu found the employee had slight hearing loss on the left side and did not require a hearing aid.
  

On August 1, 2001, Dr. Vasileff found the employee was suffering from chronic pain and depression.
  The employee received another epidural steroid injection on September 18, 2001.
 

Employee’s hearing evaluation on October 16, 2001, showed bilateral, moderate-to-severe, high frequency, sensorineural hearing impairment.  The evaluator attributed the hearing loss to the employee’s work with the employer and determined it would improve with a hearing aid.
  The employee completed a report of injury for bilateral hearing loss on January 5, 2002.  He identified May 15, 1999 as the date of last exposure to injury, which he described as “years of exposure to loud environment at work (extra loud environment on drilling rig).”

On November 13, 2001, Nurse Case Manager Carol Jacobsen sought and received a referral from Dr. Vasileff to Virginia Mason Pain Clinic.
  Employee declined to attend, as he believed it would not help his situation.

To this point in the Board’s medical record review, there is no mention by the employee or any examiners of any specific incident occurring while the employee worked light duty for the employer from September through November 2000.  Specifically, there is no mention of any incident in which Employee hurt his back assisting an electrician with a generator in November 2000.   

Denise M. Hawks, M.D., PhD, adult psychiatry saw Employee on February 4, 2002, for a disability evaluation.
  Dr. Hawks noted the employee’s extensive history regarding his back injury, including lost sexual function after his July 1999 surgery.
  The employee told Dr. Hawks in “September and October of 2000, he began overworking, and reaggravated his injury.”
  He also recounted doing paperwork on the Slope after getting epidural injections and “later was able to work up to being a tool pusher on his own rig. . . .  However, he was called back to work without the regular amount of rest he had typically gotten, and over extended himself.  As a result, he aggravated his back injury and has not been able to return to work since that time.”

At the employer’s request, physiatrist and psychologist James Robinson, M.D., and orthopedic surgeon Bryan Laycoe, M.D., examined the employee on February 15, 2002.  Drs. Robinson and Laycoe recommended the employee be evaluated in a pain clinic.
  They did not recommend surgery and concurred with Dr. Fu’s 13 percent lumbar PPI rating.
 

On March 8, 2002, Donald Endres, M.D., evaluated the employee for hearing loss and opined the employee’s work for employer was a substantial factor in his hearing loss.  Dr. Endres noted the employee had a high frequency hearing loss documented in his pre-employment physical, but the pre-employment physical was not provided so there was no way to ascertain how much hearing loss was preexisting.  Dr. Endes recommended bilateral hearing aids and assigned a 17 percent whole person PPI rating for bilateral hearing loss.

The employee underwent another lumbar spine MRI on April 9, 2002, which showed a progression to extrusion and increased disc disease at L4-5 resulting in moderate to severe central canal stenosis.
  Leon Chandler, Jr., M.D., saw the employee on June 7, 2002, for a back pain evaluation.  Dr. Chandler recommended surgery, to include a diskectomy and probable fusion at L4-5.
  The employee saw Curtis Spencer, III, M.D., on July 25, 2002, who diagnosed recurrent disc herniation with significant neurologic bowel and bladder compromise and ongoing radiculitis.  Dr. Spencer recommended decompression and fusion.

William Dillin, M.D., evaluated the employee on July 26, 2002, for his back pain.  Dr. Dillin would not recommend further surgery without new diagnostic tests including an EMG
 and a CT
 scan with contrast.

On July 27, 2002, the employee was in a motor vehicle accident (“MVA”) while in California seeking more medical opinions and surgical options for his back pain.  The ambulance transported the employee to an emergency room where he complained of pain in his neck and back and tingling in his right hand after his motorcycle was rear-ended at low speed.  During the collision, the employee was jarred forward, but did not fall to the ground or hit anything else.  Emergency room physician, Steven Chin, M.D., assessed acute cervical spine strain, acute lumbar spine strain, acute right hand weakness with probable neurapraxia, and acute low back strain with radicular pain.

The employee returned to Alaska and had a lumbar MRI on August 8, 2002.  When compared to the April 8, 2002 MRI, it revealed: An increase in disc disease at L4-5, with increased extrusion more to the right; further compromise of the posterolateral intraforaminal areas, with new, mild, left-sided neural foramen; new development of signal changes compatible with bone bruise-edema involving the right lateral margins of the end plates at L4-5; and new disc protrusion at L2-3.
  On September 6, 2002, Dr. Chandler again referred the employee to Dr. Peterson to evaluate surgical intervention for the herniated disc at L4-5 with “a relatively large fragment,” and possible fusion at L4-L5 and L5-S1.
  Dr. Chandler wrote Dr. Chisholm regarding surgery and stated, in relevant part: 

It is quite evident in looking at his films that he has a very large herniated disc at the L4-L5 level and needs surgery.  I am saying this without equivocation, and there is no alternative that will take this huge central disc fragment away.  The sooner he has surgery, the better chance he has of recovering.  Since he has disc disease at the 
L4-L5 and L5-S1 levels, consideration should be given to whether he needs fusion at this time.  He has seen Dr. Peterson in the past, and I recommended that Dr. Peterson perform surgery as soon as possible.  Sending this gentleman around the country for various opinions is ludicrous in my view.  He needs to move forward with surgery as soon as possible.  I think delaying his surgery has the potential for significantly increasing the risk to him and permanent paralysis or paresis of the extremities involved.  I think this patient should be rapidly moved through the system and be assisted with Dr. Peterson’s surgical intervention.

On October 2, 2002, counsel for the employer informed Dr. Chisholm the employee claimed to be permanently and totally disabled (“PTD”) and inquired whether the employee’s 3500 mile road trip from Alaska to southern California or the MVA impacted the employee’s ability to be retrained to any position or significantly worsened his back condition.  Dr. Chisholm responded the MVA exacerbated the employee’s back pain, but the trip itself did not.

Dr. Peterson referred the employee to Rick Delamarter, M.D., in Santa Monica, for evaluation for experimental ProDisc artificial disc replacement surgery.
  The employer requested a second EME with Dr. Laycoe, who recommended against disc replacement surgery, but indicated a fusion and diskectomy may be appropriate.

On November 21, 2002, John McDermott, M.D., examined the employee for a second independent medical examination (“SIME”).  Dr. McDermott opined further surgeries were ill advised, the employee was medically stable, he could not return to work at that time, his pain behavior did not correlate to his mechanical instability, and he had a 13 percent whole person PPI.
  Dr. McDermott responded to an inquiry from Sandy Stuller, Workers’ Compensation Officer, regarding additional medical records and information on the MVA and indicated neither those records nor the MVA significantly changed his opinion, but the trip and MVA contributed to the employee’s then current symptomatology.

On April 30, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Chisholm who recommended participation in the Virginia Mason pain clinic program; the employee refused to consider such a plan.  Dr. Chisholm discontinued the employee’s care because of his “belligerence” and perceived desire for “secondary gain.”  Dr. Chisholm stated specifically, in pertinent part, as follows: 

I think this patient is primarily interested in obtaining as lucrative settlement from Workers’ Compensation as he can achieve. . . . I think the reason he does not want to attend the Virginia Mason pain program is that they will indeed figure out that he has a strong component of secondary gain in his pain behavior. . . .  The patient’s primary interest is entitlement.  I think he looks upon Workers’ Compensation as a cash cow. . . .  If he goes on to have a second back surgery, I predict a very strong likelihood of a second failed back surgery, which would be more ammunition for him to request a higher settlement.  I will not tolerate this patient’s demands upon the system, his intransigence, his evasiveness, and his apparent interest in secondary gain.

The employee next saw Dr. Chandler on May 6, 2003, who prescribed more pain medications.  
Dr. Chandler assessed lumbar degenerative disc disease, spinal stenosis, right arm neurologic ulnar nerve and carpal tunnel.
  

On June 4, 2003, Dr. Delamarter evaluated the employee and discussed the options for treatment of the employee’s back pain as follows:

This represents an early cauda equine type symptom and should be treated surgically sooner rather than later.  The surgical options for this patient include either an antero-posterior spinal fusion at L4-L5 or a disc replacement surgery at L4-L5 . . . a disc replacement is clearly a better option for him . . . disc replacement would prevent the risk of adjacent level degeneration.

Dr. Delamarter also commented on the significant cost savings of disc replacement versus disc fusion surgery.

On June 25, 2003, the employee’s cervical spine MRI showed a severe left-sided neural foraminal encroachment at C6-7 secondary to encroachment by disc disease and osteophytic spurring; prominent disc protrusion with left paracentral, posterolateral osteophytic spurring at the C6-7 level; and a minimal disc bulge at C5-6.
  A lumbar spine MRI performed the same day showed interval surgical removal of the previous disc extrusion at L4-5 with minimal residual granulation tissue in the left lateral recess area in and around the left L5 nerve root; increased bone bruise left lateral-posterolateral aspect of the endplate areas at L4-5 and new bone bruise right lateral-anterolateral aspect of the endplates at this level with a significant increase in the marrow changes over the previous MRI; minimal, residual annular material at the L4-5 level without compromise of the central canal or neural foramen; mild to moderate right and mild left neural foraminal narrowing secondary to bony encroachment from ossific ridging in the posterolateral aspects of the endplates at L4-5; and moderate facet hypertrophy.

On August 26, 2003, Dr. Delamarter performed disc replacement surgery on the employee.
  At follow up on September 8, 2003, the employee was doing “absolutely marvelous” with minimal symptoms, no use of Oxycontin, and was cleared to return to Alaska and instructed to take it easy for four to six weeks.
  Dr. Delamarter noted on October 27, 2003, the employee was doing much better with some residual leg and back symptomatology with activity.  Dr. Delamarter ordered the employee to begin physical therapy with follow up in six months.

Physical therapy began on November 17, 2003.  On December 29, 2003, David Disselbrerr, MSPT, noted the employee’s progress in physical therapy as “very compliant.”  The employee complained of pain at his right shoulder and neck since his lumbar spine surgery.
  

The employee returned to Dr. Chandler’s office on January 13, 2004, complaining of pain in the neck, bilateral arms, and low back and was assessed with severe muscle spasms.
  The employee returned on January 20, 2004, and reported Baclofen prescribed on the previous visit greatly resolved the muscle spasms, but the employee continued to have constant, nagging low back pain.
  On March 2, 2004, he reported the muscle spasms returned and he resorted to using Oxycontin despite not wanting to return to narcotics.

On March 9, 2004, Dr. Chandler responded to an inquiry from counsel for the employer and indicated the employee’s lumbar condition was medically stable, and there was no medical contraindication with the lumbar condition preventing the employee from participating in a retraining program.  Finally, Dr. Chandler opined the medications the employee was taking were addressing both lumbar pain from the work injury and cervical pain from the MVA.

The employee received an epidural steroid injection at C6-7 from Dr. Chandler on March 31, 2004,
 and underwent a KEY Functional Assessment on April 19, 2004.  Jean McCarthy, PT, Assessment Specialist, noted the employee appeared pale, sweated profusely, and had labored breathing during the activities.  Ms. McCarthy opined the assessment may have been done prematurely.
  

On April 22, 2004, the employee saw Stewart Shanfield, M.D., at opposing counsel’s request in the MVA lawsuit.  Dr. Shanfield assessed cervical spine degenerative disc disease.
  

For follow-up, the employee returned to Dr. Delamarter on April 28, 2004.  He found the employee doing very well until “recently” when he may have done too much at physical therapy.  Dr. Delamarter took the employee off physical therapy, and instructed him to walk instead.  Noting a herniation at C6-C7, Dr. Delamarter recommended fusion or disc replacement at that level.

On June 17, 2004, Joella Beard, M.D., performed a PPI rating.  She noted some improvement in the employee’s sexual function, although not full restoration.  The employee was given a 23 percent rating for the lumbar condition only; this was discounted for the previous 13 percent rating, resulting in an additional 10 percent whole person PPI.
 

The employee saw Dixie Erickson, ANP, on September 2, 2004, and complained of low back pain and spasms after loading four wheelers three weeks prior.
  The employee returned to 
Dr. Chandler on September 29, 2004, complaining of back spasms after running a loader for a day three weeks earlier.
  

The employee had EMG testing on December 7, 2004, which confirmed bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome (“CTS”) of moderate severity.
  On December 8, 2004, David Bradford, M.D., noted a cystic lesion on the employee’s left hip and indicated it may have been responsible for the employee’s left leg pain, as the lesion reached a size sufficient to cause mechanical failure and pathologic fracture of the left hip.
  A left proximal femur MRI conducted on December 23, 2004, showed a well-marginated eccentric medullary lesion with cystic signal characteristics in the intertrochanteric region.
  

The employee saw Richard Cuneo, M.D., on December 6 - 7, 2004, for an employer’s medical evaluation (“EME”).
  Dr. Cuneo opined the employee’s left femur lesion was not work related and the employee’s lumbar condition was the result of cumulative trauma during his long period of employment with the employer.  He also opined the employee was medically stable as to the lumbar condition one year after surgery on August 26, 2004.  He rated the employee’s lumbar PPI as 23 percent of the whole person, concurring with Dr. Beard’s rating.  Dr. Cuneo maintained neither the employee’s cervical condition nor the employee’s bilateral CTS were work related.  Further, he opined the employee was capable of sedentary work considering solely the lumbar condition.

The employee saw Richard O’Donnell, M.D., for his femur lesion on February 4, 2005.  
Dr. O’Donnell recommended monitoring the lesion carefully, but not doing any sort of surgery or biopsy at that time, as the lesion appeared benign.

Dr. Chandler responded to a letter from the employee’s counsel regarding work-relatedness of the carpal tunnel syndrome and opined the condition was work-related.
  Dr. Chandler confirmed the diagnosis with further EMG testing.
  On June 9, 2005, Dr. Delamarter opined the employee would not be able to participate in vocational rehabilitation or employment eight hours per day.

On July 12, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Endres, at the employer’s request.  According to 
Dr. Endres, the employee reported he first noticed hearing loss in 1986; he had been subjected to loud noise in the course of his employment doing oil work, heavy equipment work, and carpentry since age 13; he denied significant noise exposure and noted no subjective change since 2002; he further reported he had not been working since 1999.
  Dr. Endres opined the employee’s preemployment hearing loss accounted for 11 percent of the previously assigned 17 percent whole person impairment for hearing loss.  Further, Dr. Endres indicated a portion of the employee’s post-hire hearing loss was attributable to recreational activities.
  Finally, 
Dr. Endres opined the employee’s hearing loss would not prevent him from working as long as he utilized his hearing aids.

On August 25, 2005, the employee saw Christopher Wilson, M.D., for another SIME.
  
Dr. Wilson diagnosed bilateral radial and carpal tunnel syndrome (“CTS/RTS”).  In Dr. Wilson’s opinion the condition was the result of a cumulative trauma syndrome caused by the employee’s work.  He dated the initial onset of symptoms to the early to mid 1980s.
  Dr. Wilson further opined the employee was not medically stable and should have combined CTS/RTS releases done first on the right side, then two months later on the left.

On March 23, 2006, EME Dr. Cuneo sent a letter to counsel for the employer stating in light of new evidence, he concluded the employee’s CTS was originally work-related.
  On July 26, 2006, the employee underwent surgery for left, chronic radial tunnel syndrome and left carpal tunnel syndrome.
  On July 24, 2007, the employee underwent right carpal tunnel release.  
Dr. Beard assessed 13 percent whole person impairment for the left upper extremity and three percent for the right upper extremity for a total of 16 percent PPI for bilateral upper extremities.

A January 19, 2006 right knee MRI showed a meniscus tear.
  On April 28, 2006, the employee underwent right knee arthroscopy with partial medial meniscectomy to repair a medial meniscus tear with osteoarthritis.

Again, to this point in the Board’s medical record review, neither the employee nor any examiners mentioned any specific incident occurring while the employee worked light duty for the employer from September through November 2000, and there is no mention of any incident in which Employee hurt his back assisting an electrician with a generator in November 2000.   

III. VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION HISTORY

The Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator (RBA) found the employee eligible for vocational rehabilitation on February 27, 2002.  The employee selected Jon Deisher as his rehabilitation specialist on April 8, 2002.  The employee was later reassigned to Lulie Williams on September 12, 2002.  The process was suspended on November 20, 2002, while the employee underwent back surgery.  The specialist developed a Medical Insurance Specialist retraining plan, but the parties rejected it on August 7, 2003.  On October 15, 2007, Ms. Williams notified the RBA she could not devise a plan to meet the employee’s remunerative wage.  After failed settlement negotiations, the RBA reassigned the employee to vocational rehabilitation specialist Robert Sullivan who concluded on June 20, 2008, the employee could not successfully be retrained because of his limited physical capacities, use of narcotic medications, and remunerative wage issues.
  

At hearing, Elisa Hitchcock, Rehabilitation Specialist, Northern Rehabilitation Services, testified.  At the employer’s request, Ms. Hitchcock reviewed the rehabilitation materials with respect to the employee at the end of 2004, beginning of 2005.  She prepared a plan to add to the employee’s education, including provisions for the employee to earn his GED.  The employee had a 7th grade education and his test scores reflected it would have taken him longer than two years to complete a plan, but he would have been successful if he were physically able to complete the plan.  

In July 2005, Ms. Hitchcock identified sedentary jobs in the labor market readily available on a regular basis in Alaska; specifically, check cashier, dispatcher, information clerk and order clerk.  She testified in July 2005, the evidence available to her indicated the employee possessed the physical capacity to perform these jobs.  She relied upon Dr. Laycoe’s November 2, 2002 report the employee’s physical ability was compatible with sedentary employment; Dr. Vasileff’s December 17, 2002 deposition testimony the employee could be trained to do light or sedentary work; and Dr. Delamarter’s September 23, 2004 statement, based upon the employee’s lumbar condition, he could be released to sedentary or light work.

Ms. Hitchcock had not seen Rehabilitation Specialist Sullivan’s June 20, 2008 report or the more recent information regarding the employee’s physical capacity.  She testified, considering the more recent information, she does not believe he is capable of engaging in retraining.

IV.  COMPENSATION PAYMENT HISTORY

The employer paid the employee workers’ compensation benefits for his back injury as follows:

1. TTD from May 13, 1999 through June 11, 2001. 

2. PPI biweekly from June 12, 2001 through December 3, 2001 for Employee’s 13% PPI rating for his back ($17,550.00).
 

3. AS 23.30.041(k) (“041(k)”) stipend from December 4, 2001 through August 25, 2003. 

4. TTD from August 26, 2003 through March 8, 2004. 

5. PPI biweekly from March 9, 2004 through July 21, 2004 for Employee’s additional 10% PPI rating for his back, following disc replacement surgery ($13,500.00). 

6. 041(k) stipend from July 22, 2004 through August 3, 2006.

In addition, the employer paid the employee PPI in a lump sum on April 9, 2002 for his hearing loss injury.  For the CTS/RTS injury the employer paid the employee TTD from January 25, 2005 through July 23, 2007, and PPI on a biweekly basis from July 24, 2007 through February 24, 2008.  

V.
EMPLOYEE’S TESTIMONY
The employer deposed the employee on September 5, 2002.
  He testified prior to his 1995 injury with the employer, he saw a chiropractor for numbness in his arms and hands.  He had been working derricks and both his arms and hands went numb.
  The employee explained why he left his job in November 2000.  He had been given epidural injections for his May 10, 1999 injury when home for days off work.  The drilling superintendent requested the employee return to assist in moving a rig.  The employee testified, in the process of that operation, he was not drilling, but rather sitting in a pick-up truck supervising the equipment used to move the rig from Prudhoe Bay to Milne Point, when the epidural injections wore off and the pain came back “worse than before.”  The employee testified he has not worked since.
  

At hearing, the employee testified after surgery for the May 10, 1999 injury he received a note from his doctor permitting him to go back to work because he was “fixed”; he went back to work and discovered he was not “fixed.”  He testified he was terminated after the 1999 injury and then rehired in July 2000, as a “technical coach” at driller wages, and in October was promoted to tool pusher, which was a considerable increase in pay and benefits.  He stated he reinjured his back on November 27, 2000, when trying to help an electrician disassemble a generator.
  He averred it was his responsibility, as tool pusher, to chase down parts and get the generator functioning again; he bent over the generator to help the electrician remove the cover and reinjured his back.  The employee testified he did not file a new report of injury because the employer told him everything would start in again where it left off following the May 10, 1999 injury.  

VI.
EMPLOYEE’S ARGUMENT 

The employee maintains his gross weekly wage should include the 7.5 percent “match” the employer contributed to his retirement and other fringe benefits and cited Venters v. United Postal Services
 to support his argument.  Employee further argued he is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment and PPI based upon the multiplier in effect on his alleged date of injury, November 27, 2000.  He asserts this entitlement based upon his testimony at hearing, that he incurred a new injury on November 27, 2000, as opposed to the continuance of his 1999 injury.  Further, he argued he is entitled to the compensation rate and PPI multiplier in effect when he was diagnosed with and rated for hearing loss and CTS/RTS.  

VII.
EMPLOYER’S ARGUMENT 

The employer conceded the parties agreed the employee is permanently totally disabled.  However, the employer was not willing to agree any PTD benefits were owed retroactively.  The employer also conceded the employee was PTD based solely on his back injury.  The employer argued the employee was paid all compensation due him under the Act, and was paid at the appropriate compensation rate and PPI benefits have been paid in full based on the $135,000.00 maximum in effect in 1999, when it claims the employee was injured.  The employer contended no medical evidence supports a new back injury in 2000, and asserted the injury dates for the employee’s back, CTS and hearing loss all date back to May 1999 or prior.  The employer acknowledged the CTS and hearing loss are a result of cumulative trauma dating as far back as the 1980s and asserted all benefits have been appropriately paid.  

In addressing the employee’s entitlement to full, weekly PTD benefits rather than 041(k) benefits actually paid the employee, the employer acknowledged the date of injury, whether it be 1999 or 2000, will effect whether the Alaska Supreme Court’s opinion Meek v. Unocal
 applies.  The employer contends it rebutted the presumption under Meek the employee was PTD while in the reemployment process based upon rehabilitation specialist Elisa Hitchcock’s testimony the employee was capable of sedentary work.
  The employer maintained the employee was appropriately paid 041(k) compensation when the employee was medically stable and going through the rehabilitation process.

The employer contended if the Board finds an injury in November of 2000, benefits fall under the 2000 amendments to AS 23.30.041(k), which provide the employee cannot be permanently and totally disabled while in the reemployment process.  The employer maintains if the Board determines the employee’s date of injury is determined by the Board to be in November of 2000, while in the reemployment process the employee must be restricted to .041(k) stipend benefits rather than PTD benefits.  Finally, the employer asserts a finding the employee’s injury occurred in 2000, would result in the employee receiving an overpayment.

VIII.  AUDIT OF WEEKLY COMPENSATION PAYMENTS 

The Board-ordered weekly compensation payments audit, completed by former Workers’ Compensation Officer Maria-Elena Walsh, is incorporated here by reference.
  Ms. Walsh documented every payment made to the employee during this case, and documented the differences between the employer’s payments and the amount the employee claims he is owed, as well as the differences in PPI the employer paid and PPI
 the employee claims he is still owed.
  

The employee claims he is owed $41,803.01 in monthly compensation payments (TTD, PPD, PTD, and 041(k)), and an additional $15,365.70 in PPI for the back injury and hearing loss only.
  In reply to the audit, the employee argued the compensation rate for his TTD payments should have been set to the maximum allowable on November 27, 2000, at which time he claimed a new injury.
  The employee asserted his gross weekly wage was miscalculated and formed a false basis for all calculations contained in the audit.
  The employee further argued the audit is incomplete, as no explanation is given regarding PPI payments made bi-weekly instead of in a lump sum.

In response to the audit, the employer argued it confirmed all payments owed the employee were paid, and the employee is owed no further time loss benefits absent a finding of a new injury date.
  The employer further argued there are no medical records indicating the employee had a new injury on November 27, 2000 and, in fact, all medical records point to recurrence of the May 1999 injury.
  Further, the employee reported May 15, 1999 as the date of injury for the hearing loss.
  Finally, the employer argued the employee has received all time loss benefits owed him and has been paid at the appropriate compensation rate for the May 1999 injury.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. DATES OF INJURY

It is undisputed the employee did not give proper notice to the employer and the Board of an injury he now claims occurred on November 27, 2000.
  Consequently, even if the Board excused the employee’s failure to give proper notice, (e.g., if we accepted the employee’s testimony he told Linda Wilson he injured himself but relied upon her statement “not to worry” about it, and thus did not provide a written injury report) the employee would not enjoy the benefit of the presumption found in AS 23.30.120.  Therefore, we do not apply the normal presumption analysis at this time, and conclude the employee must bear the burden of proving he injured himself on November 27, 2000.
  

AS 23.30.190’s effective date was July 1, 2000.  AS 23.30.220 states the general rule, which requires compensation calculations to be based upon “an employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury” (emphasis added).
To calculate the employee’s compensation rate pursuant to AS 23.30.220 and his PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190, the injury dates for the employee’s back, CTS/RTS, and hearing loss must first be determined.  For all payments of compensation in this case the employer based the employee’s compensation rate and PPI benefits on a May 10, 1999 injury.  The employee argues his compensation should be based on the injury date November 27, 2000.  Further, he argues PPI benefits paid for his hearing loss and CTS/RTS should be based upon the date the conditions were diagnosed or the impairments rated.  Based upon consideration of the entire record, the dates of injury for the employee’s low back, CTS/RTS syndromes and hearing loss must be determined.

A. Back Injury

The Board finds the employee did not have a new injury to his back on November 27, 2000.  Based on Dr. Vasileff’s November 2000 medical reports and the employee’s deposition, we find the employee was sent home from work in November of 2000 because the epidural injections he received for pain, sequelae of his May 10, 1999 injury, wore off.  The Board further finds the employee was well aware of the workers’ compensation process, yet filed no report of injury with the employer in November 2000, which would have given the employer notice of a claimed new injury.  The Board does not find the employee credible.
  The employee testified at hearing he injured his back when removing a cover from a generator on November 27, 2000.  We find this testimony is not consistent with either the medical records or the employee’s own testimony provided during his September 5, 2002 deposition.  We would have expected the employee in his 2002 deposition or in his medical records to mention the November 27, 2000 incident assisting the electrician repair the generator, but he did not.  We find he first mentioned this specific event in his hearing testimony on June 24, 2008.  Based upon this inconsistency in the employee’s testimony, we find Dr. Chisholm’s perception plausible and with merit; specifically, the employee’s refusal to attend a pain clinic was founded upon the employee’s desire for secondary gain and his primary interest was in obtaining a lucrative settlement in his workers’ compensation case.  Therefore, based upon the overwhelming medical evidence, especially Dr. Vasileff’s reports, which indicate the employee did not experience a new injury or an injury that exacerbated, accelerated or aggravated a pre-existing condition, we find by a preponderance of relevant evidence the employee did not suffer a new injury on November 27, 2000.  Rather, we find the employee’s May 10, 1999 injury continued to be symptomatic and, as opposed to a new injury, the treatment provided to alleviate those symptoms was merely no longer effective.  We conclude the injury date for the employee’s back is May 10, 1999, and benefits were paid based upon that injury date.  We find the employee is entitled to the maximum compensation rate for his date of injury, May 10, 1999, based on the salary he received on that date.  The maximum weekly compensation rate at that time was $700.00.


B. 
Hearing Loss and Carpal Tunnel / Radial Tunnel Syndromes

The employee argued he is entitled to the compensation rate in effect when he was diagnosed with or rated for PPI for his hearing loss and for CTS/RTS.  The employer asserts the injury date attributable to both the employee’s hearing loss and CTS/RTS is May 1999 or prior.

As an initial matter, we find the employee, since learning the law changed in 2000 increasing entitlement to PPI from a percentage of $135,000.00 to a percentage of $177,000.00 and increasing the maximum weekly TTD rate, determined a 2000 injury was much more financially advantageous to him than a 1999 injury and, therefore, is attempting to alter his date of injury.  We do not find credible the employee’s assertions made to alter his previously alleged injury dates.
  Further, notwithstanding our finding the employee is not credible, an analysis of the date of injury for a cumulative trauma in employment leads us to conclude the employee’s last exposure to cumulative trauma in his work with the employer for both his hearing loss and CTS/RTS was May 1999.
In Sourdough Express, Inc. v. Barron,
 the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) addressed the employer’s petition to dismiss the employee’s claim for a latent injury.  The Board is provided guidance on how to determine the date of injury for a cumulative trauma in employment.  The AWCAC states, as follows:

Barron's new theory of injury is that the hard physical labor over the whole period of employment, rather than any single event, caused the disablement and need for medical care.  To be timely, Barron's 2004 claim must have been filed within two years of his knowledge of the cumulative injury and its relationship to the employment.  The theory of such claims is that a repeated micro-trauma in the employment caused the gradual onset of injury, rather than any specific accident. It is a theory incompatible with a claim of specific injury bringing about the disability.  The problem with such claims is the practical difficulty of fixing a date for the ‘accidental injury.’  AS 23.30.395(24).  Although the Alaska Supreme Court has not expressly disavowed the concept that ‘accidental injury’ must be traceable to some definite time and place of origin, it has long held that ‘working conditions’ may be a legal cause of a disability, and thus give rise to a claim for compensation. See Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981); Fox v. Alascom, Inc., 718 P.2d 977 (Alaska 1986).  In our view, date of injury of such claims is the last day the employee engaged in the work activity that he or she alleges brought about the ‘cumulative’ injury.  Treaster v. Dillon Cos., Inc., 987 P.2d 325 (Kansas 1999).
 
1. Hearing Loss

In the instant matter, the employee began work for the employer in 1981 with a pre-existing hearing impairment identified on a pre-employment questionnaire.  We find his hearing loss was not again noted until June 12, 2001, at which time Dr. Fu indicated the employee had only slight hearing loss on the left side and did not require a hearing aid.  An evaluation of the employee’s hearing loss on October 16, 2001, revealed a bilateral, moderate-to-severe, high frequency, sensorineural hearing impairment, attributed to the employee’s work with the employer.  We find the employee did not complete his report of injury until January 5, 2002, and therein identified the last date of exposure to noise and thus the work “injury” as May 15, 1999.  The employee received an initial PPI rating for hearing loss on March 8, 2002.  We find, at that time, Dr. Endres recommended hearing aids for both ears and rated the employee with a 17 percent hearing loss PPI.  Dr. Endres offered a subsequent opinion on July 12, 2005.  We find the employee denied noise exposure from firearms but Dr. Endres, after viewing a video of the employee on a firing range, indicated repeated firearms firing, as observed on the video, likely contributed to the employee’s hearing loss.  We are troubled the employee was less than forthright with Dr. Endres regarding his exposure to noise from firearms.  

Pursuant to Sourdough Express, Inc. v. Barron, we are directed to determine the last day the employee engaged in the work activity he alleges brought about the cumulative injury, in this instance hearing loss.  The record clearly indicates the employee worked after 1999; however, we find the employee alleged the last day of the work activity that brought about his hearing loss was May 15, 1999, based upon the change in his job duties after returning to work in July 2000.  Specifically, when the employee was injured, he was a driller; when he returned to work in July 2000, it was in a light duty capacity and for three months he was doing paperwork to assist the tool pushers and monitoring safety procedures.  We find the employee’s light duty position no longer exposed him to the drilling rig’s loud environment.  We further find the employee admitted to Dr. Endres he did not work in the activity exposing him to loud drilling rig environments since 1999.  We rely on the employee’s assertions on the report of injury and his admissions to Dr. Endres made prior to his understanding of the consequences of his honesty.  Pursuant the guidance provided by the AWCAC in Sourdough Express, Inc. v. Barron, we find based upon the change in the employee’s job, his acknowledgement to Dr. Endres, and his report of injury indentifying the last day he performed a driller’s duties, the job activity which created the noise exposure and hearing loss, was May 15, 1999.  
2. Carpal Tunnel / Radial Tunnel Syndromes
The employee identified the effective date for his carpel tunnel injury as “May 13, 1999,” in a report of injury dated October 11, 2005.
  Dr. Fu noted the employee had a 20 year history of CTS and tendinitis upon examination in June 2001.  Dr. Chandler diagnosed CTS as early as May 6, 2003, but EMG testing to confirm bilateral CTS was not conducted until December 7, 2004.  At that time, the condition was “moderately severe.”  SIME physician Dr. Wilson determined the employee’s diagnosis was CTS/RTS, caused by cumulative trauma and related to the employee’s work.  

As is typical in cumulative injury cases, a distinct date of injury is not provided.  Therefore, we must identify the last day the employee performed activities at work that created the trauma leading to his CTS/RTS; and will do so by analyzing the employee’s condition and exposure in the same way we did the last day he performed duties leading to his hearing loss.  

We place great weight on the employee’s report of injury completed on October 11, 2005, identifying May 13, 1999 as the last date of work and thus the last date of exposure to the work injury.  Just as with exposure to work activities cumulatively leading to the employee’s hearing loss, we find after the employee left his position as a driller, where he was performing heavy duty work, to include repetitive motion of pulling levers, moving dials, pulling pipe out of the hole as deep as 20,000 feet for up to 12 hours per day, in July 2000, he was assigned a light duty job where he, without using a computer, completed paperwork, attended safety meetings and raised crews’ awareness of job hazards.  We find he performed this job for approximately three months and was then utilized to assist in moving a rig from Prudhoe Bay to Milne Point.  We find his duties in this role were to “supervise” the equipment used to move the rig and he did not serve in this position for an extended period because the epidural injections wore off shortly after the operation started and the employee was unable to continue working.  We find after May 13, 1999, when the employee returned to work for the employer in July 2000, his work activities changed significantly and the employee was no longer engaged in work contributing to his cumulative CTS/RTS.  
Under the guidance provided by the AWCAC in Sourdough Express, Inc. v. Barron, we find, the last day the employee engaged in the work activity he alleges brought about the “cumulative” CTS/RTS injury, was May 13, 2009.  We base our finding upon the change in the nature of the employee’s job and his report of injury indentifying the last day he performed the duties of a driller, the job activity involving heavy duty work and repetitive motion, was May 13, 1999.  

III. COMPENSATION RATE

Based upon our finding the date of injury for all work-related injuries be they back, CTS/RTS or hearing loss, is on or before May 15, 1999, we must next address whether the employee’s compensation rate was properly calculated.  Because there is a maximum weekly rate payable under the appropriate sub-section, this is solely a legal question, and we do not apply the AS 23.30.120  presumption analysis to this issue.  At the time of the employee’s injury and subsequent disability, AS 23.30.220(a) provided:

Computation of compensation under this chapter shall be on the basis of an employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury.  An employee’s spendable weekly wage is the employee’s gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions.  

Under AS 23.30.395(15),
 the definition of gross earnings is:

Periodic payments, by an employer to an employee for employment before any authorized or lawfully required deduction or withholding of money by the employer, including compensation that is deferred at the option of the employee, and excluding irregular bonuses, reimbursement of expenses, expense allowances, and any benefit or payment to the employee that is not fully taxable to the employee during the pay period, except that the total amount of contributions made by an employer to a qualified pension or profit sharing plan during the two plan years preceding the injury, multiplied by the percentage of the employee’s vested interest in the plan at the time of injury, shall be included in the determination of gross earnings; however, the value of room and board that would raise an employee’s gross weekly earning above the state average weekly wage at the time of injury may not be considered.

At the time of his injury, AS 23.30.175(a) provided in part:

The weekly rate of compensation for disability or death may not exceed $700 and initially may not be less than $110. . . . 

The Alaska Supreme Court addressed this issue in Thompson v. United Postal Service,
 when it decided whether to apply the 1995 amendments effective one month after Thompson was injured and the law in effect when she became disabled, or the 1988 version of AS 23.30.220(a), the law in effect at the time of Thompson’s injury.  The court held the Board’s determination the applicable law in Thompson’s case was the AS 23.30.220 version in effect at the time of Thompson’s injury was correct because the 1995 amendments to AS 23.30.220 evidenced no intent the provision be applied retrospectively.
  

Finally, a statute must be enforced according to its plain terms if possible.
  Both 
AS 23.30.220(a) and AS 23.30.175(a) reference the employee’s injury date for purposes of computing an employee’s compensation rate.  AS 23.30.220(a) states an injured employee’s weekly compensation rate shall be computed based on the employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury.  The version of AS 23.30.175(a) in effect at the time of the employee’s disability provides the “maximum compensation rate” is 120 percent of the average weekly wage, applicable on the date of injury of the employee.  Since the maximum weekly TTD rate cannot exceed $700, the employee is not entitled to a higher compensation rate for any of his dates of injury all of which we find were on or before May 15, 1999.  Thus, for the compensation rate adjustment requested in the employee’s current claim and identified for the June 24, 2008 hearing, we conclude the employee is not entitled to a compensation rate adjustment for past PTD benefits and has been paid at the appropriate maximum TTD compensation rate of $700 per week.  

While the employee presented arguments in his briefing based upon Melchor v. Parker Drilling Co.,
 regarding his compensation rate for PTD benefits, the Board finds that issue was not included on the prehearing summary and cannot be decided at this time, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.070.  The Board reserves jurisdiction over the PTD compensation rate issue.
IV. PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILITY
Prior to hearing, the employer accepted the employee’s status as permanently and totally disabled.  Because the parties stipulated to the employee’s PTD status, we do not apply the AS 23.30.120 analysis to the PTD status issue.  At hearing, the parties orally stipulated an agreement had been reached regarding PTD pursuant to AS 23.30.180, which states in pertinent part:

(a) In a case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability.  If a permanent partial disability award has been made before a permanent total disability determination, permanent total disability benefits must be reduced by the amount of the permanent partial disability award, adjusted for inflation, in a manner determined by the board. . . . In all other cases permanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts.  In making this determination the market for the employee services shall be

(1) area of residence; 

(2) area of last employment; 

(3) the state of residence; and 

(4) the State of Alaska.

(b) Failure to achieve remunerative employability as defined in AS 23.30.041(q) does not, by itself, constitute permanent total disability.

Therefore, we approve the stipulation and conclude the employee’s status is PTD pursuant to the parties’ stipulation and the entire record in this case.  

We further find the parties agreed and stipulated at hearing the employee has been PTD since at least February 25, 2008, based solely on his back injury.  However, because there is some question as to when the employee became PTD, and no agreement between the parties as to the date the employee became PTD, we apply the presumption analysis pursuant to AS 23.30.120(a) to that issue.
  AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that . . . the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter.”  

Applying the presumption of compensability is a three-step process.
  In the first step, generally, “AS 23.30.120(a)(1) creates the presumption of a compensable disability once the employee has established a preliminary link between employment and injury.”
  “[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.



We find the employee raised the presumption he is PTD based upon Dr. Delamarter’s opinion.  On June 9, 2005, Dr. Delamarter opined the employee would not be able to participate in either vocational rehabilitation or employment eight hours per day.
  Dr. Delamarter’s opinion raises the §120 presumption the employee became PTD as early as June 9, 2005 and caused it to attach to the employee’s PTD claim.
In the second step, we must determine whether the employer has met its burden of producing contrary evidence.
  To rebut the presumption, the employer must produce “substantial evidence” that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.
  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.
  If the employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step.
 

Indeed, as we noted above, the employer accepted the employee’s PTD status as of February 25, 2008.  Based on the vocational rehabilitation records, we find rehabilitation specialist Ms. Williams was unable to devise a plan meeting the employee’s remunerative wage effective October 15, 2007.  We find, in reliance on Dr. Delamarter’s opinion, the employee was unlikely employable in any occupation for which he was physically qualified effective June 9, 2005, on any consistent, readily available basis.  We further find, in reliance on Ms. Williams’ vocational opinion, he was unlikely employable in any occupation for which he was occupationally qualified on any consistent, readily available basis, effective October 15, 2007.  We therefore conclude, based on our finding the employee was both physically unable to work and vocationally un-employable, he became PTD on October 15, 2007.

These findings are based upon the following legal analysis:  At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.395(10)
 defined “disability” as the “incapacity because of injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury to the same or any other employment.”  The Board addressed “permanence” from both a physical and vocational aspect in Lau v. Carterair International #616.
  In Lau, there was conflicting evidence about the employee’s potential for improving her physical capacities through non-invasive medical treatment, specifically, physical therapy.  The employer’s evidence showed Lau had no interest in performing physical therapy, even though three physicians believed she would greatly benefit from such a program.
  The employer argued Lau’s condition was not permanent because several doctors indicated she would improve if she chose to undergo proper treatment.  The Board stated:

We do not find Employer’s argument convincing.  A finding of permanence does not require unequivocal concurrence on the part of physicians.  As the court stated in Alaska International Constructors v. Kinter:

The fact that the medical experts offered some cautious comments that [Employee] might someday be able to work in a non-demanding job does not preclude the Board’s finding.  In order for a claimant to be permanently totally disabled, he need not establish that there is no chance of him ever doing anything again.

Moreover, the issue is not Employee’s physical condition but her ability to compete in the labor market.  The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.
 We find no evidence any possible improvement in her physical condition will result in better prospects for employment.

“Total” was defined in J.B. Warrack v. Roan.
  The court stated:

For workmen’s compensation purposes total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist. . . . (footnote omitted).  As the Supreme Court of Nebraska has pointed out, the ‘odd job’ man is a nondescript in the labor market, with whom industry has little patience and rarely hires (footnote omitted).

In Lake v. Chugach Electric,
 the Board found because Lake suffered from intractable pain, treatment for which the employer controverted, he was unable to meaningfully engage in a vocational reemployment process.  The Board stated:

When Employee’s limited vocational skills are combined with the restriction he not use his dominant arm/hand and the limitations imposed by his untreated debilitating pain, we find Employee lacks the overall capabilities, at this time, to competitively reenter the labor market for the positions identified by Employer as being continuously and readily available.  We conclude Employee is ‘odd lot,’ as that term is explained in Hewing, by citation to Justice Cardozo’s opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (citation omitted). . . .  Based on our conclusion Employee is odd lot, we conclude Employee is permanently and totally disabled at this time.

In Sulkosky v. Morrison-Knudson,
 the Alaska Supreme Court synthesized the earlier decisions by pronouncing an injured worker is permanently and totally disabled if there is not “regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to his capabilities.”  Moreover, the Board in Fleming v. Municipality of Anchorage,
 noted:

We share a concern with the employer that the employee may benefit from additional vocational assistance.  He is a relatively young man, who clearly enjoyed his work.  The Alaska Supreme Court made it clear in Meek,
 that PTD benefits do not prohibit additional vocational services, nor are PTD benefits to be interpreted to forestall the possibility of the employee eventually finding remunerative employment.  We commend the employer’s resolve to continue to assist the employee in his attempt to return to the work force. 

Accordingly, given our factual findings and the above legal analysis, we conclude the employee in the instant case achieved PTD status as of October 15, 2007, as a matter of fact and law.

V. AS 23.30.041(k) STIPEND BENEFITS FROM DECEMBER 4, 2001 THROUGH AUGUST 25, 2003; AND FROM JULY 22, 2004 THROUGH AUGUST 3, 2006

In addressing the employee’s claim for PTD benefits in lieu of AS 23.30.041(k) stipend benefits actually paid from December 4, 2001 through August 25, 2003, and from July 22, 2004 through August 3, 2006, the Board concludes the May 10, 1999 injury date dictates the Alaska Supreme Court’s opinion Meek v. Unocal applies to the instant matter.  In Meek, the Court held an employee’s claim for PTD benefits is not incompatible with a concurrent request for reemployment benefits.  In arriving at this conclusion, the Court considered its “disability” definition, (which is incapacity, due to injury, to earn the wages the employee was receiving when injured),
 its “total” definition, (which is the “inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist),”
 and an educational component, (which may mitigate total disability in the future) in the “total disability” concept.  Specifically, the Court focused on factors to consider when determining whether a person’s earning capacity is decreased because of a work-related injury, which include: the extent of an employee’s injury, age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question and the injured person’s intentions as to future employment.  The Supreme Court reasoned an employee’s lack of education, as much as his physical injury, may be the factor preventing the employee from obtaining anything other than “odd-lot” employment.

The employer contends it rebuts the Meek presumption the employee was PTD while in the reemployment process based upon rehabilitation specialist Elisa Hitchcock’s opinions the employee was capable of sedentary work.
  The employer maintained the employee was appropriately paid 041(k) stipend benefits when the employee was medically stable and going through the rehabilitation process. 

The Board takes administrative notice upon review of the entire record and finds the employee was paid benefits for his back injury as follows:

1. TTD from May 13, 1999 through June 11, 2001. 

2. PPI biweekly from June 12, 2001 through December 3, 2001. 

3. AS 23.30.041(k) stipend from December 4, 2001 through August 25, 2003. 

4. TTD from August 26, 2003 through March 8, 2004. 

5. PPI biweekly from March 9, 2004 through May 13, 2004. 

6. PPI biweekly from May 14, 2004 through July 21, 2004. 

7. 041(k) stipend from July 22, 2004 through August 3, 2006.

In addition, the employer paid the employee PPI in a lump sum on April 9, 2002 for his hearing loss injury.  For the CTS/RTS injury the employer paid Employee TTD from January 25, 2005 through July 23, 2007, and PPI on a biweekly basis from July 24, 2007 through February 24, 2008.  

On November 9, 2000, Dr. Vasileff first found the employee was medically stable; he was found eligible for vocational rehabilitation on February 27, 2002.  On March 9, 2004, Dr. Chandler, his treating physician found the employee medically stable.  Further, we find the employee was capable of participating in a rehabilitation program based upon Dr. Chandler’s opinion.

At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.041(k) stated in relevant part:

Benefits related to the reemployment plan may not extend past two years from date of plan approval or acceptance, whichever date occurs first, at which time the benefits expire.  If an employee reaches medical stability before completion of the plan, temporary total disability benefits shall cease and permanent impairment benefits shall then be paid at the employee’s temporary total disability rate.  If the employee’s permanent impairment benefits are exhausted before the completion or termination of the reemployment plan, the employer shall provide wages equal to 60 percent of the employee’s spendable weekly wages but not to exceed $525, until completion or termination of the plan.  A permanent impairment benefit remaining unpaid upon the completion or termination of the plan shall be paid to the employee in a single lump sum. . . .  

We find the employer paid the employee biweekly back injury PPI benefits from June 12, 2001 until December 3, 2001.  When those PPI benefits were exhausted, the employee began receiving 041(k) stipend benefits through August 25, 2003, when his plan was rejected and he began receiving TTD benefits.  The employee was paid TTD benefits from August 26, 2003 through March 8, 2004, when he began receiving biweekly PPI benefits until July 21, 2004.  The employee was then paid 041 stipend benefits from July 22, 2004 through August 23, 2006.  During these periods of time, we conclude the employee’s benefits were properly paid.  The Board previously found the employee was PTD effective October 15, 2007, when the rehabilitation specialist determined no plan could be devised for the employee.

VI. INTEREST ON LATE PAID COMPENSATION

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.142 requires payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided by 
AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  8 AAC 45.142, governing interest states, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.
(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time loss compensation to the employee. . . .

The employee asserts he is entitled to interest on late-paid benefits resulting from a benefits 
re-characterization.  The employer asserts it has paid the employee all benefits due, thus no interest is awardable.  Having found the correct date of PTD status is October 15, 2007, we find the employee is due interest pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142 on the difference between 041 (k) stipend benefits paid and late-paid PTD benefits for the period October 15, 2007 until February 25, 2008.

ORDER
1. The employee has been PTD status since October 15, 2007.  

2. The employee’s date of injury for all three injuries and for setting his compensation rate shall be on or before May 15, 1999.  The employee’s CTS/RTS and hearing loss injuries are cumulative injuries.  The employee’s PPI for all three injuries was properly paid based on AS 23.30.190 at that time.

3. Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, the employee is entitled to interest on late-paid PTD benefits based on a re-characterization of payments during the period October 15, 2007 until February 25, 2008.
4. The Board retains jurisdiction over any future claims filed by the employee for a PTD compensation rate adjustment pursuant to AS 23.30.220(a)(10).

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on November  18 , 2009.
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Robert Weel, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of CHARLES E. MARTIN employee/applicant; v. NABORS ALASKA DRILLING, INC., employer, SELF INSURED., insurer/defendants; Case No. 19908379M; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on November  18, 2009.








Kimberly Weaver, Administrative Clerk
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� See Charles E. Martin v. Nabors Alaska Drilling, Inc., AWCB Decision Nos. 03-0101 (May 6, 2003), 07-0079 (April 6, 2007), and 07-0111 (May 4, 2007).


� 9/5/02 Deposition of Charles E. Martin, at 3.


� Cover Sheet for Employee’s evidence presented at March 28, 2006 Hearing.


� 9/5/02 Deposition of Charles E. Martin, at 39-43.


� Id., at 51-52.


� Id., at 52.


� 5/19/99 Medical Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� Id.


� 7/1/99 Operative Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 1/19/00 Medical Report, Dr. Cable.


� 2/23/00 Medical Report, Dr. Peterson.


� 3/9/00 Medical Report, Dr. Peterson.


� 2/23/00 Medical Report, Dr. Levine.


� 7/11/00 Medical Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 8/8/00 Physician’s Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 7/27/00 Chart Note, Dr. Cable.


� Letter from Dr. Vasileff to T. Blackwell, Northern Adjusters.


� 11/21/00, Physician’s Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 11/21/00 Healthsouth Radiographic Referral Request.  As noted below, the employee subsequently testified at the June 24, 2008 hearing he injured his back “helping that electrician disassemble that generator. . . .  I had bent over that generator to help him remove the cover between the engine and the generator, and that reinjured my back, November 27th, 2000.”  �Tr. at 38.  This chronology figures prominently in our decision.


� 11/29/00 MRI Report, John J. McCormick, M.D.


� 11/29/00 Physician’s Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 12/5/00 Physician’s Report, Dr. Vasileff.


� 12/21/00 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� 5/2/01 Letter, Dr. Chapman.


� Id.


� 6/1/01 Rehabilitation Medicine Associates, PC, questionnaire.


� 6/12/01 Letter to Dr. Vasileff from Dr. Fu.


� Id., at 2.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 8/1/01 Chart Note, Dr. Vasileff.


� 9/18/01, Medical Report, Dr. Levine.


� 10/18/01 Evaluation Report, Sharon Clark, BC-HIS, Alaska Hearing Help Center.


� 1/15/02 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, Charles Martin.


� 11/11 – 13/01 Physician’s Report.  Note: Ms. Jacobsen is an agent of the adjuster in this case.


� 9/5/02 Deposition, Charles E. Martin, at 95-96.


� 2/4/02 Adult Disability Determination, Dr. Hawks.


� Id.


� Id. 


� Id., at 2.


� 2/15/02 EME Report, Drs. Robinson and Laycoe.


� Id.


� 3/8/02 Dr. Endres letter.  AMA Guides, 5th Edition.


� 4/9/02 MRI Report, Robert Bridges, M.D.


� 6/7/02 Chart Note, Dr. Chandler.


� 7/25/02 Chart Note, Dr. Spencer.


� Electromyogram.


� Computerized Tomography.


� 7/26/02 Chart Note, Dr. Dillin.


� 7/27/02 Emergency Dept. Visit, Dr. Chin.


� 8/8/02 MRI Report, Robert Bridges, M.D.


� 9/6/02 Letter to Dr. Peterson from Dr. Chandler.


� 9/6/02 Letter from Dr. Chandler to Dr. Chisholm.


� 10/2/02 Letter from K. Russell to Dr. Chisholm.


� 10/22/02 Medical Report, Dr. Peterson.


� 11/2/02 EME Report, Dr. Laycoe.


� 11/21/02 SIME Report, Dr. McDermott.


� 3/18/03 Letter from Dr. McDermott to S. Stuller.


� 4/30/03 Medical Report, Dr. Chisholm.


� 5/6/03 Chart Note, Dr. Chandler.


� 6/4/03 Chart Note, Dr. Delamarter.


� Id.


� 6/25/03 MRI Report, R. Bridges, M.D.


� Id.


� 8/26/03 Operative Report, Dr. Delamarter.


� 9/8/03 Chart Note, Dr. Delamarter.


� 10/27/03 Chart Note, Dr. Delamarter.


� PT notes, 11/17/03 through 4/21/04.


� 1/13/04 Chart Note, Ms. Bacon.


� 1/20/04 Chart Note, Ms. Bacon.


� 3/2/04 Chart Note, Dixie Erickson, ANP.


� Letter from K. Russell, with filled in answers by Dr. Chandler, 2/11/04.


� 3/31/04 Chart Note, Dr. Chandler.


� 4/19/04 KEY Functional Assessment, J. McCarthy.


� 4/26/04 Medical Report, Dr. Shanfield.


� 4/28/04 Chart Note, Dr. Delamarter.


� 6/17/04 Medical Report, Dr. Beard.  5th Edition, AMA Guides.


� 9/2/04 Chart Note, D. Erickson, ANP.


� 9/29/04 Chart Note, Dr. Chandler.


� 12/7/04 EMG report, Richard Cuneo, M.D.


� 12/8/04 Chart Note, Dr. Bradford.


� 12/23/04 MRI report, Val Christensen, M.D.


� 1/18/05 EME Report.


� Id.


� 2/4/05 Medical Report, Dr. O’Donnell.


� 2/7/05 Letter to Dr. Chandler from J. Kalamarides.


� 3/8/05 Chart Note, Dr. Chandler.


� Letter to Dr. Delamarter from J. Kalamarides, 6/9/05, with Dr. Delamarter’s response handwritten.


� 712/05 EME report, Dr. Endres, at 1.


� The Board notes despite the employee’s denial of noise exposure from firearm use, Dr. Endres described his observations from viewing a videotape of a person, who appeared to be Mr. Martin, on a firing range in South Anchorage.  Dr. Endres indicated repeated firearm firing as demonstrated on the video was likely to contribute to the employee’s hearing loss.  Id., at 1 �and 3.


� Id., at 1-2.


� 8/25/05 Letter to S. Stuller from Dr. Wilson.


� Id.


� 8/26/05 Chart Note, Dr. Wilson.


� 3/23/06 Letter from Dr. Cuneo to R. Wagg.


� 7/26/06 Operative Report, William Pease, M.D.


� 7/24/07 PPI Report, Dr. Beard.  AMA Guides, 5th Edition.


� 1/19/06 MRI, Val Christensen, M.D.


� 4/28/06 Operative Report, Timothy Kavanaugh, M.D.


� 6/20/08 Reemployment Plan Status Closure Report, Robert M. Sullivan.


� See 12/31/01 Compensation Report.


� Workers’ Compensation system, see also audit.


� See 9/5/02 Deposition of Charles Martin.


� Id., at 57.


� Id., at 52.


� 6/24/08 Hearing Transcript, at 37.


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0187.


� 914 P.2d 1276 (Alaska 1994).


� The employer asserted remunerative wage issues were not relevant to this argument.


� See Audit.


� Back injury and hearing loss only.


� Audit, Tab 2.


� Id.


� 1/15/09 Employee’s Response to Audit ordered by the Board.


� Id.


� Id.


� 1/9/09 Letter to J. Wright from R. Wagg.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 6/24/06 Hearing Transcript, at 39.  See AS 23.30.100(a).


� AS 23.30.120(b) states: “If delay in giving notice is excused by the board under �AS 23.30.100(d)(2), the burden of proving the validity of the claim shifts to the employee notwithstanding the provisions of (a) of this section.”


� AS 23.30.220.


� Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board 1999 Weekly Compensation Rate Tables.


� AS 23.20.122.


� AWCAC Decision No. 069 (February 7, 2008).


� Id., at 11, Footnote 99.


� Employee apparently completed the Report of Injury on October 11, 2005, and put that date in the block reserved for the “date of injury.”  However, in the area on the form for “time employee left work,” the employee listed “May 13, 1999.” 


� Now renumbered AS 23.30.395(22).


� 975 P.2d 684 (Alaska 1999).


� Id. at 688.  


� 2 A.C. Sands, Sutherland Statutory Construction, § 46.01 (4th Ed. 1984).


� AWCB Decision No. 08-0034 (February 26, 2008).  Note, this case was reversed and remanded by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  See Parker Drilling Co. v. Melchor, AWCAC Decision No. 091 (October 28, 2008).


� Id., at 1279.


� Louisianan Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379 (Alaska 1991).


� Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 474 (Alaska 1991).  


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  


� 6/9/05 Letter to Dr. Delamarter from J. Kalamarides, with Dr. Delamarter’s response handwritten.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer at 869.  


� Id., at 870.


� Now renumbered AS 23.30.395(16).


� AWCB Decision No. 95-0053 (February 27, 1995).


� The Board determined Lau lacked sufficient communication skills (she was born and educated in Peru) to compete in a sedentary job market.  Therefore, unless Lau’s physical abilities improved, the likelihood of suitable employment within her capacities was slight.


� 755 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1988).


� Vetter v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� Lau at 11-12.  


� 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).


� Id. at 988.


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0200 (October 7, 1997).


� 919 P.2d 158, 167 (Alaska 1996).


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0226 (September 2, 1998).


� Meek v. Unocal, 914 P.2d 1276, 1278-1279.


� At the time of this injury, AS 23.30.395(10). 


� Citing J.B. Warrack Co. v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986, 988 (Alaska 1966).


� The employer asserted remunerative wage issues were not relevant to this argument.


� Workers’ Compensation system, see also audit.


� See also, Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).
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